SUPREME COURT COPY No. S247266



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL BOARDS ASSOCIATION, et al. Appellants and Petitioners

vs.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, et al. Appellees and Respondents.

On Review from the Court of Appeal First Appellate District, Division 5 -- Case No. A 148606

After an Appeal from the Alameda County Superior Court (The Honorable Evelio Grillo) -- Case No. RG 11554698

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Deborah B. Caplan [SBN 196606] Richard C. Miadich [SBN 224873] OLSON, HAGEL & FISHBURN, LLP 555 Capitol Mall, Suite 400 Sacramento, CA 95814 Telephone: 916.442.2952

Counsel for Appellants/Petitioners

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1) Does the State violate the mandate reimbursement requirement of article XIIIB, section 6 of the Constitution when it directs local agencies, including schools, to use their own "proceeds of taxes" to pay state-mandated costs, either directly or by directing them to use funds that are not available as a factual matter?
- 2) Does the State violate the separation of powers principles of article III, section 3 of the Constitution when it statutorily directs that certain funding satisfies its mandate reimbursement obligation despite final determinations by the Commission on State Mandates finding that the same funding did not satisfy the requirements of article XIIIB, section 6?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In 1979, Proposition 4 imposed spending limits on the state and local governments, including schools. (Cal. Const., art. XIIIB, §1.) With these limits, voters also directed that if the State requires a local government to provide a new program or higher level of service, it "shall provide a subvention of funds to reimburse the local government for the costs of the program. . . " (*Id.*, §6 ["Section 6"].) The purpose of Section 6 is "to require each branch of government to live within its means and to prohibit the entity having superior authority (the State) from circumventing this restriction by forcing local entities such as school districts to bear the State's cost. . " (*Cal. School Boards. Ass'n.* v. State (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 770, 787.)

Each agency's spending limit cannot exceed last year's "proceeds of taxes," adjusted for changes in inflation and population. (*Id.*, §§1&8.) For local governments, "proceeds of taxes" includes certain "subventions received from

the State." (*Id.*, §8(c).) The implementing legislation defined unrestricted state funding as state subventions included within "local proceeds of taxes." (Gov. Code, §§7901(i)&7903.)

The Commission on State Mandates – the quasi-judicial agency charged with making mandate determinations – has determined that several dozen state actions impose costs on local education agencies that require reimbursement ("education mandates"). Despite this, the State has repeatedly devised legislative and administrative roadblocks to avoid payment for these mandates.

In 2010, the Legislature enacted a provision that allows the State to eliminate a mandate obligation without actually providing any payment by simply identifying existing funding and designating it "offsetting revenues." (*Id.*, §17557(d)(2)(B).) In enacting this provision, the State effectively reversed decades of law that construed the reimbursement language in Section 6 to require an additional payment specifically provided for the mandated program or service.

While this fundamental change in the interpretation of Section 6 would be problematic for all local agencies, it is particularly problematic for schools because a large percentage of their funding comes from the State. Article XIIIB acknowledged this reality when it defined local proceeds of taxes to include state payments; the implementing legislation similarly defined most unrestricted education funding as the education agencies' "proceeds of taxes." (*Id.*, §§7903, 7906, 7907.)

The State's intent in enacting section 17757(d)(2)(B) was illustrated in the same budget legislation, which directed schools to use their unrestricted funding to "offset" the costs of the *Graduation Requirements Mandate* and to use special education funding to "offset" the costs of the *Behavioral Intervention Plans Mandate*. (Ed. Code, §§42238.24&56523(f).) In a tacit acknowledgment

that special education was significantly underfunded, section 56523(f) directs schools to "first" use that funding for the mandate. By using Government Code section 17557(d)(2)(B) to circumvent the requirement for additional payment, both statutes effectively require schools to use their own proceeds of taxes to pay the costs of these mandates.

Commission decisions for each of these mandates had already rejected the argument that the funding claimed as offsetting revenue in 2010 could be considered mandate payment under Section 6. Although those decisions are final quasi-judicial determinations, section 17757(d)(2)(B) allows the State to use the idiosyncrasies of the mandate reimbursement process to "update" the reimbursement obligation in a way that eliminates reimbursement and effectively overturns the original mandate determination in violation of the separation of powers principles in the Constitution. (Cal. Const., art. III, §3.)

The statutes at issue would thus reverse longstanding interpretations of article XIIIB, section 6 and abrogate longstanding Commission decisions. Because of the nature of education funding in California, the 2010 legislation presents a unique threat to schools and creates a template for the eventual elimination of the State's mandate obligations for schools. In addition, allowing the State to identify funding that is unrelated to the mandate and direct that it "first" be used for mandated costs creates the likelihood that the State will defeat the right to reimbursement for all local agencies by designating funding for multiple purposes.

Petitioners/Appellants ("Petitioners") urge this Court to reverse the Court of Appeal and declare Government Code section 17557(d)(2)(B) unconstitutional as applied in Education Code sections 42238.24 and 56523(f)

¹ This provision was originally section 56523(e) but became 56523(f) as the result of a 2013 amendment. Petitioners use 56523(f) for ease of reference.

because those provisions violate both article XIIIB, section 6 and article III, section 3.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper interpretation of the constitutional requirements of article XIIIB, section 6 and article III, section 3 are questions of law subject to *de novo* review in this Court. (See *Prof. Engineers in Cal. Gov't v. Kempton* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 1016, 1032.)

BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. The State's Constitutional Obligation to Provide Mandate Reimbursement

The right of local agencies to mandate reimbursement grows out of several constitutional changes adopted by voters in the late 1970's. In 1978, Proposition 13 limited the power of state and local governments to impose new taxes and, in 1979, Proposition 4 imposed spending limits on the same entities. (Cal. Const., art. XIIIA&XIIIB.) Together, articles XIIIA and XIIIB restrict the power of local agencies to raise and spend public revenues.

Article XIIIB, section 6 requires that if the State imposes a new program or higher level of service on a local government, it "shall provide a subvention of funds to reimburse the local government for the costs. . ." The purpose of Section 6 is "to preclude the state from shifting financial responsibility for carrying out governmental functions to local agencies, which are 'ill equipped' to assume increased financial responsibilities because of the taxing and spending limitations that articles XIIIA and XIIIB impose." (County of San Diego v. State (1997) 15 Cal.4th 68, 81.) School districts and county offices of education are "local governments" under article XIIIB. (Cal. Const., art. XIIIB, §8(d).)

Although the State initially used the Board of Control to process mandate claims, in 1984 it created a new, independent administrative process for mandate determinations. (*Kinlaw v. State* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 326, 331; Gov. Code, §§17500 et seq.) Local agencies file "test claims" with the Commission on State Mandates ("Commission"), a quasi-judicial body comprised of State and local representatives. (*Id.*, §§17521, 17525.) The Commission decides whether the local agency is "entitled to be reimbursed by the state for costs mandated by the state as required by Section 6 of Article XIIIB of the California Constitution." (*Id.*, §17551.)

Government Code section 17556 defines several circumstances (sometimes called mandate "exceptions") in which the costs of a state-imposed program or service are not reimbursable. Subdivision (e) provides that a mandate is not created if the State provides "additional revenue that was specifically intended to fund the costs of the state mandate in an amount sufficient to fund the cost of the state mandate..." (*Id.*, §17556(e).) In other words, if the mandated program or service is accompanied by additional, adequate State funding for the mandated program, it does not impose "costs" subject to reimbursement.

If the Commission determines there are mandated costs, "it shall determine the amount to be subvened to local agencies and school districts for reimbursement. In so doing it shall adopt parameters and guidelines for reimbursement of any claims. . ." (*Id.*, §17557(a).) Reimbursement claims are filed with the Controller, and the amount necessary to reimburse local agencies for costs mandated by the State "shall be appropriated to the Controller for disbursement." (*Id.*, §§17558, 17558.5), 17561(c).)

Both the State and local agencies have the right to seek judicial review of Commission decisions. (*Id.*, §17559(b).)

B. State Efforts to Avoid Complying With Section 6

After article XIIIB was adopted, the State attempted to legislatively "disclaim" its reimbursement obligation under Section 6. This was rejected in City of Richmond v. Commission on State Mandates (1986) 64 Cal.App.4th 1190, 1201-02 ("City of Richmond") [only Commission has authority to determine whether statute creates a mandate].) In 1984, acknowledging that the prior administrative scheme "has not provided for the effective determination of the state's responsibilities under Section 6," the State developed the administrative process now in effect. However, the test claim process routinely takes many years and judicial review extends that time further. Even after a final mandate determination, the right to separate judicial review for the parameters and guidelines routinely adds several more years.

For example, the statute underlying the *Graduation Requirements* ("GR") Mandate was enacted in 1983; the Commission determination was made in 1987, and litigation over this mandate was still ongoing when the 2010 legislation was enacted. Similarly, the Behavioral Intervention Plans ("BIP") Mandate statute was enacted in 1993, the Commission decision was made in 2000, and litigation was still pending in 2010.

In 2002, the State began "deferring" its reimbursement obligations by appropriating \$1,000 per mandate in the budget and carrying the remainder as a "debt" owed to local governments and school districts. The State and local governments sponsored a constitutional amendment in 2004 that ended the practice for local governments, but education agencies were not included in that protection. (Cal. Const., art. XIII B, §6(b)(1)-(4).)

In 2004, the Legislature began directing the Commission to set aside or "reconsider" prior education mandate decisions in light of self-serving legislative findings. This practice was invalidated in *Cal. School Boards Ass'n* v. State (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 1183, 1200 ["CSBA I"] based on separation of

powers. Eventually, the practice of appropriating \$1,000 and deferring the balance was declared unconstitutional for schools in *Cal. School Boards Ass'n* v. *State* (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 770 ["CSBA II"], ² although the Court also held that local governments could not affirmatively enforce certain administrative requirements of Government Code section 17500 *et seq*. When this case was briefed in the trial court, the State's mandate debt to education agencies was more than \$5 billion.³ (JA II:419.)⁴

Like much mandate legislation, the 2010 amendments were made in budget "trailer bills" without any public review or participation. (JA II:457-486.) Although Government Code section 17556(e) provides that no reimbursable costs are imposed if the state provides additional revenue specifically intended to fund the costs of the and sufficient to do so, the 2010 legislation added new language to 17557 which circumvents the restrictions of section 17556(e) while nominally maintaining those restrictions.⁵

Section 17557 governs the "parameters and guidelines" for reimbursement of claims once the Commission has determined that costs are being incurred that require reimbursement. Although the parameters and guidelines typically focus on the basis for reimbursement (e.g., a standardized

² The State renewed its use of \$1,000 appropriations in 2013 after the block grant was created. (JA III:848-852.)

³ Some payments on the mandate debt have been made since that time, but not through the claims-based reimbursement process. (See *infra* at 43.)

⁴ The Joint Appendix is designated "JA" followed by the volume and page number. Transcripts are differentiated by date.

⁵ Section 17556(e) originally required the funding to be identified in the legislation imposing the mandate; the 2010 amendments allowed funding to be provided subsequent to the enactment of the mandate, but maintained the requirements that the funding be "additional," "specifically intended" for the mandate, and "sufficient to pay the costs of the mandate." (JA II:457.)

reimbursement methodology, time-based costs, actual costs for equipment or salaries), the 2010 amendments allow the parameters and guidelines to be "updated" to reflect "offsetting revenues" that "do not require a new legal finding that there are not costs mandated. . . .pursuant to. . . .section 17556." (*Id.*, §17557(d)(2)(B).)

This means that despite a Commission determination that costs have been imposed – which necessarily includes a finding that funding is not provided to cover those costs (otherwise there would be a "no cost" finding under section 17556(e)) – section 17557(d)(2)(B) nonetheless allows the State to "update" the parameters and guidelines and direct the Commission to find that costs are not, in fact, incurred; it allows funding that was determined in the mandate determination not to be "offsetting revenue" to constitute "offsetting revenue." By using this approach, the State is permitted to identify funding that would be insufficient to defeat the *creation* of a mandate under section 17556(e) to defeat the right to *reimbursement* for that mandate under section 17557(d)(2)(B).6

The 2010 budget package also added Education Code sections 42238.24 and 56523(f). Education Code section 42238.24 requires that teacher costs related to the *GR Mandate* "shall be offset by the amount of state funding apportioned to the district pursuant to this article. ." Education Code section

⁶ Also enacted in 2010 was Government Code section 17570, which gives the Commission authority to "adopt a new test claim decision to supersede a previously adopted test claim decision" based on a "subsequent change in law." (JA II:459; Gov. Code, §17570(c).) Having been told by the courts that it could not direct the Commission to reconsider or set aside its prior final decisions, the State created a new statutory procedure to accomplish the same goal whenever the Commission find that the State's liability has been "modified based on a subsequent change in law." (Gov. Code, §17570(a)-(b).) Such a "change in law" would be completely subject to legislative control (such as the 2010 legislation). Section 17570.1 also provides the Legislature with authority to initiate the new test claim process.

56523(f) was added to state that funding "provided for purposes of special education...shall first be used to directly offset any mandated costs....[for the BIP Mandate]." The clear intent of these provisions was to override the Commission's decisions in the GR and BIP Mandates and eliminate more than \$300 million of the State's \$400 million annual mandate obligation – a goal confirmed by the Legislative Analyst, who stated that "the [2010-11] budget package eliminated two of the state's costliest K-12 mandates – related to the high school graduation requirement and behavioral intervention plans..." (http://www.lao.ca.gov/reports/2010/bud/spend_plan/spend_plan_110510.pdf, at p. 21.)

There have been additional statutory changes since 2010, most notably the creation of a block grant "alternative" for education mandates adopted in 2012-13. (Gov. Code, §17581.6.) The block grant requires participating districts to waive the right to reimbursement of actual costs in return for an annual "grant." (Id.) The amount of the grant is unrelated to actual mandate costs and has represented a fraction of actual claims filed. Since the State has been providing no actual funding for individual education mandates, the block grant forces them to choose between accepting a greatly reduced (but certain) payment or declining it in the hope that their actual mandate claims will be paid at some point in the future. Unsurprisingly, most districts have accepted the block grant.

C. The Two Mandates "Eliminated" in 2010

In 1983, the State imposed new high school science requirements. (Ed. Code, §51225.3(a)(1).) In 1987, the Commission determined that a mandate was imposed requiring reimbursement for the costs of additional teachers, laboratory space, and equipment, *i.e.*, the *GR Mandate*. (JA II:495-496.) The State refused to pay for additional teacher costs, claiming that districts could use existing resources. The courts rejected the State's argument in 2004, concluding that it would "defeat the purpose of section 6, to protect local agencies ... from a state

mandate that forces the district to shift its limited revenues to the state mandate from existing local programs for which the revenues have been budgeted." (JA II:562-563.)

On remand, the Commission decided that a "reasonable reimbursement methodology" should be used for teacher costs.⁷ The State argued that costs should be offset by the districts' revenue limit funding. As discussed in more detail *infra*, revenue limit funding was the State's unrestricted funding provided to education agencies in part to address education funding disparities and subsequently adjusted in response to Proposition 13. Revenue limits imposed an upper limit on funding for all education agencies; after subtracting local revenues, the State provided the difference, if any, as unrestricted funding.

The Commission concluded that districts could not be required to use their unrestricted funding because it "would require school districts to use their proceeds of taxes on a state-mandated program." (JA II:623.) The Commission reaffirmed its position in the subsequent judicial review proceeding. (JA II:654-664.) While the Superior Court action was pending, the Legislature enacted Education Code section 42238.24, which provides that teacher costs related to the high school science requirements "shall be offset by the amount of state funding apportioned to the district pursuant to this article" or, for county offices of education, section 2550 et seq.8 The funding referenced in section 42238.24

⁷ A "reasonable reimbursement methodology" allows reimbursement to be based on general allocation formulas established by the Commission rather than requiring local governments to submit actual cost data. (Gov. Code, §17557.1.)

⁸ Section 42238.24 also provides that the percentage of funding required to be allocated for teacher costs under section 41372 "shall first be allocated to fund the teacher salary costs incurred to provide the courses required by the state." The Commission's 2008 decision also found that section 41372 does not appropriate any new funding. (JA II:623.)

was the same unrestricted education funding that the Commission had rejected as offsetting revenues in 2008. The State apparently never raised the new provision and abandoned the offsetting revenue argument; the trial court affirmed the Commission on other grounds. (JA II:649-650.)⁹

In 2013-14, while this case was in the Superior Court, revenue limit funding was replaced with the Local Control Funding Formula ("LCFF"). The LCFF combines each district's 2012-13 revenue limit entitlement and some prior categorical funding to create a new base, and then provides additional funding for districts with large numbers of low income students and English learners. The formulas function similarly in that each district has an upper LCFF funding entitlement, and the State provides the difference, if any, between local property tax receipts (and other local revenue offsets) and the LCFF entitlement. (Ed. Code, §§42238.02-42238.03.)¹⁰ The final amount apportioned to the district is unrestricted funding to be used to provide the general education program. Whether referring to revenue limit or LCFF funding, section 42238.24 thus requires education agencies to use their own funds of taxes to pay for state-imposed mandates.

The State's efforts to eliminate its *BIP Mandate* obligation are similar. California first adopted special education requirements in the 1980's, and litigation over the *Special Education Mandate* extended over many years. (See *Hayes v. Comm. on State Mandates* (1992) 11 Cal.App.4th 1564, 1576 "*Hayes*").) In 2001, a settlement was reached and the State agreed to pay

⁹ In 2011, the State moved to amend the parameters and guidelines to reflect section 42238.24. (http://www.csm.ca.gov/pendingclaims/docs/gr5/doc2.pdf.) That request was suspended pending resolution of this case.

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