SUPREME COURT COPY

SUPREME COURT

In the Supreme Court of the State of California 9 1 2018

Joge Navarvete Clerk

CALIFORNIA SCHOOL BOARDS ASSOCIATION, and its EDUCATIONAL LEGAL ALLIANCE; et al.,

Petitioners and Appellants,

v.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Deputy

Case No. S247266



First Appellate District, Division Five, Case No. A148606 Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. RG11554698 The Honorable Evelio Martin Grillo, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
THOMAS S. PATTERSON
Senior Assistant Attorney General
BENJAMIN M. GLICKMAN
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
SETH E. GOLDSTEIN
Deputy Attorney General

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

⁸ On a statewide basis, even *de minimis* costs can be significant. For example, a \$10,000 per-district cost (*Kern*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 747 fn. 16) would cost \$10 million when applied to the 1,000 school districts in the state (III JA 940).

CSBA acknowledges "that the State can adjust funding (within the parameters of Proposition 98) and the precise mix of unrestricted and restricted (categorical) funding as well as the amount of mandate payments remains subject to a legislative determination." (OB, p. 36 (analyzing Kern).) This is precisely what the state did here—the Legislature prioritized the use of state special education funding for a specific purpose (mandate reimbursement). Given that CSBA admits that the state could have simply reduced general funding and created a separate reimbursement item for the mandate (which would have provided schools the same total amount of revenue as under the offset statutes), their constitutional objection to the state providing schools the same amount of money by a different mechanism places form over function and should be rejected.

3. BIP Was a Special Education Program, Paid for by Special Education Funding

CSBA also errs in claiming that with respect to BIP, the state "is identify[ing] funding that is unrelated to the mandate." (OB, p. 8.) There is no constitutional or statutory requirement that state funding be "related" to the mandate, and CSBA does not cite to any authority in making this argument. The Legislature has discretion in determining how to pay for the mandate.

Regardless, BIP was a special education program. Behavioral interventions were required by Education Code section 56520 et seq., which is in the part of the Education Code for Special Education Programs. (See Ed. Code, §§ 56000-56865.) And behavioral interventions were targeted towards students with "exceptional needs" with "possible physical, mental, or emotionally disabling condition." (Ed. Code, § 56520, subd. (a)(1) and (a)(2).) Accordingly, the special education funding used to offset the cost of BIP was directly related to the mandate itself.

4. CSBA Fails to Demonstrate that Schools Will Be Required to Use Their Own Tax Revenues to Pay for the Mandate

CSBA argues that section 56523(f) violates section 6 with a policy-based argument alleging special education is "already significantly underfunded" (OB, p. 18). The argument rests on an unsupported and false legal premise, as there can be no legal finding that special education is underfunded—the total amount of funding allocated to special education is a policy choice for the Legislature and may increase or decrease from year to year. Opinions or preferences that special education receive more funding are merely that—opinions and preferences to be balanced against all other legislative spending priorities.

The argument also fails for additional reasons. CSBA fails to demonstrate that any schools were required to use their own tax revenues to pay for the cost of the mandate. Moreover, section 6 does not require that the Legislature hold all other funding to local governments steady while also providing a subvention. And simply directing local government how to use of state funding does not create a reimbursable mandate.

First, although CSBA makes an unsupported claim that special education funding is "demonstrably insufficient" to pay for BIP (OB, p. 43), CSBA never demonstrated that schools were required to use local tax revenues to pay for the cost of the mandate.⁹ (See Slip. Op., p. 21 [noting that CSBA "never explain[s] how these facts establish section 56523, subdivision (f) requires school districts to use 'their own local revenues'"

⁹ In order to prevail on its facial challenge to Education Code section 56523(f), CSBA must show either "a total and fatal conflict" with the California Constitution or at least that a constitutional violation will occur "in the generality or great majority of cases." (See *Gerawan Farming, Inc. v. Agricultural Labor Relations Bd.* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1118, 1138, citations omitted.) Regardless of which test is used, CSBA's claim fails.

for BIP].) The "evidence" for CSBA's claim is primarily in the form of LAO reports that the courts below judicially noticed. (See OB, p. 40, primarily relying on a LAO report found in II JA 735-761.) While respondents did not object to the taking of judicial notice of these reports themselves, the reports do not—and cannot—establish facts to support CSBA's claims. (StorMedia Inc. v. Sup. Ct. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 449, 457 fn. 9 ["When judicial notice is taken of a document . . . the truthfulness and proper interpretation of the document are disputable"]; see Mangini v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co. (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1057, 1063-1064 [court could not take judicial notice of the truth of conclusions within a report from the United States Surgeon General regarding the health effects of smoking], overruled on other grounds in In re Tobacco Cases II (2007) 41 Cal.4th 1257.)

The declarations submitted in support of CSBA's writ petition likewise do not demonstrate that schools were required to use their own revenues to pay for BIP. (III JA 785-786; 794-795.) If anything, these declarations show the opposite. For example, the declaration from Castro Valley Unified School District admits that the district received sufficient state education funding to pay for the costs of BIP. (III JA 785, ¶ 13 ["Although [BIP] costs are substantial, they are less than the state funding CVUSD receives for special education"]); see also III JA 794, ¶ 10 [San Joaquin County Office of Education declaration admits that state special education funding "still exceeds the cost of the BIP [m]andate"].)

CSBA therefore fails to demonstrate that schools were required to use their own tax revenues to pay for BIP. CSBA alleged that BIP cost schools \$65 million per year until 2013, when the mandate was discontinued. (II JA 417.) But the state provided schools with over \$3 *billion* each year to pay for special education. In other words, the special education funding provided by Education Code 56523(f) was the subvention or

reimbursement required by article XIIIB, section 6. Because schools were required to offset BIP *first* before paying for other special education programs, even assuming that some believe that special education might be "underfunded," there is no dispute that there was enough state funding for BIP costs and school districts did not need to use their own revenues. Accordingly, the mandate reimbursement has been satisfied.

Second, alleged funding shortages for other special education programs, while not proven, are in any event not a constitutional concern. As this Court has explained, "[t]he circumstance that the program funds claimants may have wished to use exclusively for substantive program activities are thereby reduced, does not in itself transform the related costs into a reimbursable state mandate." (*Kern*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 748.)

Other cases reach similar conclusions. For instance, in *County of* Sonoma, supra, 84 Cal. App. 4th 1264, the court rejected a County's claim that the Legislature's direction of property tax revenues to schools (and attendant reduction in property tax payments to counties) constituted a reimbursable mandate. (Id. at pp. 1283-1284.) Instead, the Court concluded that "by using the word 'cost' in section 6 the voters meant the common meaning of cost as an expenditure or expense actually incurred." (Id. at p. 1285.) Similarly, in City of San Jose, supra, 45 Cal. App. 4th at p. 1806, where the Legislature allowed counties to charge cities for the costs of booking prisoners, the Court denied the City's mandate claim. The Court reasoned that "section 6 cannot be interpreted to apply to general legislation which has an incidental impact on local agency costs," and that it was not "persuaded by the argument that budget cuts in other programs trigger the subvention requirement in section 6." (Id. at p. 1816; see also Grossmont Union High School Dist., supra, 169 Cal. App. 4th at p. 876 ["[a] state requirement that an entity redirect resources is . . . not a reimbursable mandate"].)

Finally, it is irrelevant if a school receives less general use special education funds because the overall state funding level to schools pursuant to Proposition 98 remains unchanged. As discussed above, if the Legislature appropriates funds for a mandate, this funding is usually part of the Proposition 98 guarantee. (See, e.g., Ed. Code, § 41207.4, subds. (b), (c) [mandate appropriation satisfies Proposition 98 guarantee]; III JA 848, 852 [traditional mandate appropriations and mandate block grant appropriations part of Proposition 98 funding]; III JA 828-829, ¶ 5.) Accordingly, if the Legislature appropriates more mandate funds for schools in a given budget year, this ordinarily would mean less funding for other school programs. (III JA 828-829, ¶¶ 5, 6.) Therefore, even if the Legislature were to appropriate more or less funding specifically for BIP, that would not change the district's overall state funding going to schools under Proposition 98. There is no constitutional requirement to the contrary.

C. Education Code Section 42238.24 Is Constitutional for the Same Reasons as Section 56523(f)

CSBA also challenges the graduation requirements offset in Education Code section 42238.24. But, as with section 56523, the Legislature has provided mandate reimbursement funding by way of the offsetting revenue provisions, and CSBA's challenge to section 42238.24 fails for the same reasons.

1. Section 42238.24 Provides for Offsetting Revenue

Section 42238.24 requires school districts to utilize state funding to offset the costs of the graduation requirements mandate, before seeking additional reimbursement.¹⁰ The Legislature has provided school districts

(continued...)

¹⁰Education Code section 42238.24 states:

with offsetting funding for the graduation requirement in three forms: 1) revenue limit funding; 2) Local Control Funding Formula money (LCFF); and 3) education protection account moneys. (See III JA 775, # 12.)¹¹ The Legislature has appropriated between \$20 and \$30 *billion* per year in general purpose funding that must be used to first offset the cost of the graduation requirement mandate, as discussed above, and serves as the subvention or reimbursement required by article XIIIB, section 6. (See III JA 775, # 13.) CSBA asserts that the graduation requirements mandate

(...continued)

Costs related to the salaries and benefits of teachers incurred by a school district or county office of education to provide [the second science course] shall be offset by the amount of state funding apportioned to the district pursuant to this article, or in the case of a county office of education pursuant to Article 2 (commencing with Section 2550) of Chapter 12 of Part 2 of Division 1 of Title 1, and the amount of state funding received from any of the items listed in Section 42605 that are contained in the annual Budget Act. The proportion of the school district's current expense of education that is required to be expended for payment of the salaries of classroom teachers pursuant to Section 41372 shall first be allocated to fund the teacher salary costs incurred to provide the courses required by the state.

v. Priest (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584, which held that certain funding disparities that existed in the 1970's between wealthy and poorer school districts violated Equal Protection. (See Wells v. One2One Learning Foundation, supra, 39 Cal.4th at p. 1194.) Because of this decision, the Legislature adopted a system of equalized funding in which it contributes to school districts to bring about an equivalency of revenues. (Ibid.) Revenue limit funding was replaced by the LCFF in 2013-2014 (see Ed. Code, §§ 42238.02, 42238.03), which likewise attempts to reduce resource disparities between schools. Education protection account moneys are general purpose state aid funding pursuant to Proposition 30, The Schools and Local Public Safety Protection Act of 2012. (See Cal. Const., art. XIII, § 36, subd. (e).)

costs schools approximately \$200 *million* annually. (II JA 413.) There thus is no question that the funding specified in section 42238.24 is sufficient to cover the cost of the graduation requirements mandate, and such specified funding properly serves as the subvention required by section 6.

Section 42238.24 therefore is constitutional for the same reasons as section 56523(f): (1) the Legislature has plenary authority over school districts—and the allocation of state education appropriations—and may direct them as to how state funds must be expended absent a constitutional provision that says otherwise (see *Cal. Teachers Assn.*, *supra*, 5 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1532-1533); (2) a state program is not a reimbursable mandate if the Legislature provides funds for the local agency sufficient to cover the cost of the program. (*Kern*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at pp. 746-747); and (3) CSBA cannot show school districts are required to use their own property taxes to pay for the cost of the mandate (see III JA 774-775, #12 ["No other revenues, including property tax revenues, are potentially offsetting"]; Slip Op., p. 17 [when schools "receive[] tens of billons of dollars in state funding each year, it simply does not follow that they are or were required to use local revenues to pay for teacher salaries . . . associated with the [graduation requirements] mandate"].)

Accordingly, this Court should reject CSBA's claim that Education Code section 42238.24 is unconstitutional.

2. The Funding for Graduation Requirements Is Related to the Mandate

Moreover, just like the special education funding with respect to BIP, CSBA cites no authority requiring that state funding designated for graduation requirements must be somehow related to the mandate. (OB, p. 8.) It is also a curious argument to make, since presumably CSBA would have no concern with the state making an appropriation for the mandate

directly from the General Fund, and the General Fund has no specific relation to graduation requirements, or even education requirements. It is just money, and CSBA's arguments regarding the source of that money are irrelevant.

Regardless, the purpose of the school system is to educate students. (See *Long Beach Unified Sch. Dist. v. California* (1990) 225 Cal.App.3d 155, 172.) The graduation requirements mandate is an education program that directly seeks to advance this purpose. The second science course is no different than any other course within the districts' overall curricula that is paid for with revenue limits or LCFF money. In providing general purpose education funding to schools and requiring the funds to first pay for the graduation requirements mandate, the Legislature is directly providing reimbursement for the mandate.

D. State Mandate Reimbursement Is Not Local Proceeds of Taxes

CSBA also argues that the funds provided by the state through the offset process are actually local revenues and local proceeds of taxes, and therefore the offset provisions are unconstitutional because they require schools to use their "proceeds of taxes" to pay for mandate reimbursement. CSBA is incorrect.¹²

¹² CSBA also waived this argument by failing to raise it in the trial court. The operative complaint does not mention "proceeds of taxes" or the state appropriations limit, CSBA did not brief the argument in the trial court, and it is not discussed in the trial court's decision. (I JA 285-316; II JA 398-423; III JA 1055-1083.) The Court of Appeal evaluated the theory over Respondents' objections, but ultimately rejected it. (Slip. Op., p. 17, after denial of petition for rehearing.) CSBA therefore has forfeited this novel theory, and this Court should not consider it. (See, e.g., *Central Pathology Service Medical Clinic, Inc. v. Superior Court* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 181, 185, fn. 2 [appellate courts need not address theories that were not advanced in the trial court].)

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